
 MINUTES 
September 27, 2016 

Committee of the Whole 
City of Batavia 

 
Please NOTE: These minutes are not a word-for-word transcription of the statements made at the 
meeting, nor intended to be a comprehensive review of all discussions. They are intended to make an 
official record of the actions taken by the Committee/City Council, and to include some description of 
discussion points as understood by the minute-taker. They may not reference some of the individual 
attendee’s comments, nor the complete comments if referenced. 
 
Chair Brown called the meeting to order at 7:30pm. 

 
1. Roll Call 
 
Members Present: Chair Brown; Ald. Russotto, Atac, Stark, Wolff, O’Brien, Callahan, 

Hohmann, Mueller (entered at 7:45pm), Botterman, Cerone, and 
McFadden 

 
Members Absent: Aldermen Chanzit and Fischer 
 
Also Present: Gary Holm, Director of Public Works; Scott Buening, Director of 

Community Development; Howard Chason, Information Systems 
Director; Joel Strassman, Planning and Zoning Officer; Drew 
Rackow, Planner; and Jennifer Austin-Smith, Recording Secretary  

 
2. Items to be Removed/Added/Changed 
There were no items to be removed, added or changed.  
 
3. Matters From the Public (For Items NOT on Agenda) 
There were no matters from the public for items not on the agenda.  
 
4. Consent Agenda 

(The Consent Agenda is made up of items recommended by city staff that requires 
recommendation to the full City Council by the COW. This agenda is placed as a 
separate item on the COW agenda. The items on the Consent Agenda are usually 
minor items, already budgeted, standard non-policy activities or outgrowths of earlier 
meetings and are voted on as a “package” in the interest of saving time on non-
controversial issues. However, any council member may, by simple request, have an 
item removed and placed on the “regular” agenda.) 

a. August 2016 Financials 
b. Resolution 16-82-R: Amending Professional Services Agreement 

 
Motion: To approve the Consent Agenda as presented 
Maker: Wolff 
Second: Cerone 
Voice Vote: 11 Ayes, 0 Nays, 3 Absent 
   Motion carried. 
   CONSENT AGENDA 
 



Committee of the Whole  
September 27, 2016 
Page 2 
 
5. Initial Land Use Proposal Review for the Proposed Mill Bridge Development, McKee 

& Deerpath Road-K. Hovanian Homes, Applicant (Rackow 9-23-16) CD 
Vice-Chair Stark read the memo regarding the initial land use proposal review for the proposed 
Mill Bridge Development.  
 
Jim Truesdell, 1804 Naperville IL, presented on the proposed development and his presentation 
included the following:  

• The history of K. Hovnanian Homes, formally Town & Country Homes, active in 
Chicago since 1958.  

• Chicago Communities (list and map) 
• Surrounding Land use Exhibit 
• Zoning Intensity Map 
• Planning Factors Exhibit 
• Concept Plan Map and Topography Map 
• Proposed buffering  
• Park Area Exhibit (will work with the Geneva Park District as this moves forward) 
• Cell towers would remain on the site 

 
Stark opened the floor for questions and comments from the public.   
 
Nina Moore, 510 Thorne Street, asked how the buffering would be done for the Trout Farm 
subdivision as far as their open lands and the houses right next door. Truesdell stated they are 
providing a thirty-foot buffer. Another alternative would be to make that section one larger lot. 
The intention is to provide buffer. Moore asked about the open property that backs up to the 
Trout Farms open area. She stated that they are concerned about ball fields and how it would 
impact their liability. Truesdell stated that it is their intent to keep the existing wetland. The open 
space provided would be stormwater retention as a passive open space detention area, which 
would then transition into the wetland area and then transition into the future park area. 
  
Kathleen Cuda, 404 Thorne Street, asked what are the single family homes lot sizes, square 
footage and price points. Truesdell answered that the lot sizes are minimum 7200 square feet. 
The duplexes would be on a 10,000 square foot lot. At this point they do not have price points. 
They will be market-rate homes and be consistent with what homes are selling for in the general 
area. They are looking at the 2,000-3000 square foot range.  
 
Marie Sanderson, Heritage Ridge area, stated that she is at the highest area of the layout. She 
would like more information on the buffer. The reason being is that there are homes with front 
door entrances and she is concerned on what she would see from her front door. She does not 
want to see someone’s backyard and garbage cans from her front door. She asked if the buffer 
would be dense so that she would not be looking at the new development. Truesdell stated that 
they understand that there are front doors to consider. They provided the thirty-feet buffer to add 
in addition to the thirty-feet that they already have and plan on planting additional plantings 
there. The intent is to plant that and maintain property for both sides of the property line. 
Sanderson asked if there was any consideration to put up any fencing since that is the only 



Committee of the Whole  
September 27, 2016 
Page 3 
 
section that would have property backed up to each other. Truesdell stated that the options are 
open considering the buffer. He stated that there would be 90 feet from building to a building.  
 
Bob Kekefer, Hamilton Way, asked about the proposed road extension and bridge across the 
McKee Tributary. He asked Stark to reread the memo discussing that section. Stark reread the 
section in the memo regarding the possibility of a bridge. Buening stated that as part of the 
access agreements, Kane County has asked us to try to build a bridge, there is no formal 
agreement, but Kane County has asked the City try to build this bridge. Kekefer asked if there 
was a formal agreement or requirement to do this. Russ Whitenker, developer’s attorney, stated 
the City has stated that this is a requirement and they have been putting the bridge as part of the 
plan. Brown stated that it was a desire to make that connection so that there are opportunities to 
be able to come out to Randall Road without accessing Fabyan Parkway. Also, for Fire, Police 
and Ambulance that is a way to be more efficient and quicker and save lives. Buening stated that 
Cambridge contributed some money towards that bridge. These are items to be discussed through 
the annexation or debate. Chair Brown stated that it has been the desire of past Councils to have 
this bridge developed. Wolff stated that the surrounding communities and the roads are all 
designed for a future bridge. Wolff stated that he does not think this is going to happen unless 
there is a bridge there. Kekefer stated that he does not have a problem with the bridge 
necessarily. Buening noted that financing of any project has not been discussed. We have a long 
way to go if they were willing to proceed with this.  
 
Cindy Kekefer, Hamilton Way, stated that she feels that this is a nice looking development. Her 
concern is rainwater runoff. She is wondering what happens when we have a large rainstorm. 
She asked if studies have been done to ensure that the detention area could handle large amounts 
of rain water runoff and is the marsh being monitored by the City for water flow. Holm stated 
that we manage that water by storing it on site and it is released slower. Kekefer asked about the 
price range of houses. She asked about the strategy going forward, such as what is the timeframe 
from the sale of the first house to the completion of this subdivision. Attorney Whitenker stated 
that they are here working on a local regional basis, they need to have more detailed discussion 
on significant elements that would determine house pricing.  
 
Tracy Drake, 429 Thorne Street, stated that they have had times in the past where the green 
space area is soggy and there was is water in the street. She is concerned about increasing the 
water right along Thorne Street. She stated that if we increase the density then we would be 
increasing the stormwater runoff. Truesdell stated that stormwater runoff studies would be 
conducted. O’Brien stated that he wants to make sure that we would have ample drainage. He 
wants to prepare for future years. The water would flow in this proposed subdivision since you 
are elevated and we want to make sure that we are not flooding people ten years from now. 
O’Brien stated that our stormwater guidelines are outdated and we should plan for larger 
rainstorms going forward.  
 
Nina Moore, 510 Thorne Street, asked if the developer has bought the property. Attorney 
Whitenker stated that they have not purchased the property and they would have to have all the 
items worked out. They are at least six to nine months out before buying the property.  
 



Committee of the Whole  
September 27, 2016 
Page 4 
 
Brown thanked the audience for their comments. He stated that he likes the idea duplexes with 
first floor masters because it fits a housing need in Batavia. This proposed development does fit 
with the Comprehensive Plan. The use of the current streets are well done. Mill Street as the 
main entrance is a positive. The open space to the north and west conforms to what was done 
with the Cambridge subdivision and has been worked out well. He encourages sensitivity to the 
Trout Farm and Wolcott Lane and would like more sensitivity to houses that border it on the 
west side. He asked if the developer could add some more landscaping or give a little more space 
there that would be great. Brown cautioned against the use of horseshoe drainage because it does 
not work and asked the developer to avoid it all costs. Brown stated a sixty six-foot right of way 
is positive. He noted that the Park District is all Geneva Park District. In general he is supportive 
of this proposed development and he would approve it as it is proposed.  
 
Callahan stated that we have so few large segments available for development it would be 
ridiculous to sell these homes at a low selling point and the price point should dictate what is 
already there in that area.  
 
O’Brien asked about sanitary lines. Holm answered that this is the City’s sanitary line. Holm 
stated that there is a large overall capacity in the system.  
 
Brown opined to the developer that the City does not have any money to contribute to the bridge. 
If you are going to hang your hat on the possibility that the City is going to build the bridge for 
you it will not happen. Stark stated that this is a well-designed development and age-in-place 
housing stock. O’Brien stated that he hopes that the bridge does not deter you from moving 
forward. Truesdell stated that these are things that we need to know. We are anxious to move 
ahead and plan on continuing with this project.    
 
6. Project Status 
There was no project status. 
 
7. Other 
Holm discussed Braeburn Marsh. The City manages the marsh west of Randall Road and the 
Kane County Forest Preserve manages the marsh east of Randall Road. The City has a contract 
in place to do a burn. We would like to extend that burn further east. The contractor needs to get 
a permit to do that and they already have a western permit.  Staff has no control of what is 
happening east of Randall Road and staff is working with the Kane County Forest Preserve. The 
Kane County Forest Preserve is getting a maintenance plan in place and they may do a burn this 
fall. The City does not control the Forest Preserve’s schedule or their costs.  
 
Wolff asked if the outfall from the marsh to Mill Creek would be cleared or expanded. Holm 
stated that the area is out of the City’s control. We could only control our portions. Stark asked if 
this is a good timeframe to do a burn. Holm answered that May and fall are good times to do a 
burn. Brown stated that there is a need for the burn and it needs to be done. Brown stated that the 
Mayor supports the burn. Holm stated that our portion would be burned.  
 
Holm reported on the excavations on the Baptist Church property. The excavations were 
searching bedrock and they did not find any, which is good news. Holm explained that the 



Committee of the Whole  
September 27, 2016 
Page 5 
 
digging would be easy. Holm stated that one of the questions was are we going to repave the 
trenches to get us through winter time. Holm stated that we are planning on having demolition 
specs in the December/January time frame. They plan to build a parking lot on the Larson 
Becker property by February or March. When the asphalt plans open in mid April we need the 
parking lot graded and ready to purchase asphalt. We will not be going into 2017 in July with the 
building standing and the parking lots not developed. If we want to repave the area in question it 
would cost eight to ten thousand dollars. Staff is recommending not spending that money. Holm 
asserted that staff would be able to maintain gravel better than asphalt because asphalt would 
continue to settle throughout the winter. O’Brien agreed but would like to avoid rocks flying 
around and suggested to put down screenings down as an option. Stark asked about the pile of 
rubble. Holm stated that staff would get estimates for removal of the debris. It is considered an 
industrial site and needs to be tested as an industrial site per the law. We are getting a cost to get 
it tested. Holm noted that in two months we would have a large gravel pile yet again. Brown 
stated that we should hold ourselves to the same standards as we would hold anyone else to. He 
suggested installing a fence around it to comply with regulations. O’Brien stated keep doing 
what you are doing and put fencing around the large pile.  
 
Callahan asked about the status of the Joint Review Board. Buening stated at the meeting the 
School District raised general concerns with the number of children that would be generated out 
of Shodeen’s proposed development. The meeting was continued until next Tuesday to try to get 
additional information from the developer and other developments such as this one to see what 
the actual child generation rate would be. Currently, we feel that there would be a dozen or less 
based on our research.  
 
Brown asked about the bricks on Batavia Avenue. Holm stated that he will talk with Scott 
Haines about this and assured the Committee that this is being addressed and should be done 
before the snow falls. O’Brien stated that it should be done sooner. Holm stated that as soon as 
we get a contractor in we would work on it. Holm noted that Haines is out of the office next 
week. Brown asked to have information about this tomorrow before Haines is out of office. 
Brown asked about excess cash and look at that so we could plan.  
 
Stark stated that a resident informed her that there is a piece of pipe on the sidewalk on 31. Stark 
asked for City staff to take care of this tripping hazard.   
 
O’Brien stated that there are weeds growing where they planted seed on Woodland Hills Road. 
Holm explained that the turf has not yet been established. The engineering department is 
overseeing that project. O’Brien noted that he has been notified by residents that there is still 
debris in the road. Holm asked to be informed on where the debris are and they would take care 
of it.  
 
O’Brien thanked Holm for putting the line in on Woodland Hills Road.  
 
8. Executive Session 

a. Threatened Litigation (CD) 
b. Setting the Price of Land for Sale or Lease (CD) 

 



Committee of the Whole  
September 27, 2016 
Page 6 
 
Motion: To enter into Executive Session for the purpose of threatened litigation and setting 

the price of land for sale or lease 
Maker: Stark 
Second: McFadden 
Voice Vote: 12 Ayes, 0 Nays, 2 Absent 
   Motion carried. 
 
The COW exited Executive Session at 9:46pm.  
 
9. Adjournment 
There being no other business to discuss, Brown asked for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 
9:46pm; Made by O’Brien; Seconded by Callahan. Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by Jennifer Austin-Smith 


	Members Absent: Aldermen Chanzit and Fischer

